
 
TIOGA COUNTY BOARD OF HEALTH 

 

 

 

 

PLEASE RSVP TO 607-687-8630 

IF YOU WILL NOT BE ABLE TO ATTEND THIS MEETING 

TO:  Members of the Board of Health 
   
FROM:  A. Reigelman 
 
DATE:  February 12, 2026 
 
RE: Board of Health Meeting - Thursday, February 19, 2026,  

7:30 a.m., Conference Room B, 2nd Floor of Health and Human Services 
Building at 1062 St. Rt. 38, Owego, NY 13827. 

 

AGENDA 

 
Introduction of Guests 

- Susan Medina, Deputy Director of Public Health 
 
Presentation  

- None 
 
Old Business 

- Meeting Minutes (January 2026) 

- Enforcements  

New Business  

- TCPH Audit Summary, Quarter 4 2025 (S. Medina) 

 

Director’s Report 

-    Agency Updates – January (2026) 

 

Additional Items 

- None  

Next Meeting Information 

- Next Meeting: March 19, 2026 

 



TIOGA COUNTY BOARD OF HEALTH 
 
 

c/o Tioga County Department of Health ~ 1062 State Rt. 38 ~ PO Box 120 ~ Owego, NY 13827   Page 1 of 4 
 

MEETING MINUTES 
January 20, 2026 

 
 
BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT (Attended In Person):  
T. Nytch, DVM, President 
W. Simmons, Vice President  
R. Kapur-Pado, DO  
W. Standinger III, Legislator  
J. Raftis, DO, FACEP 
 
ABSENT:  
T. Hills, DVM 
T. Leary, FNP 
 
OTHER(S) PRESENT:                     
H. Vroman, Public Health Director 
A. Reigelman, Secretary 
P. DeWind, Esq., Tioga County Attorney 
K. Holochak, Public Health Project Coordinator 
 
CALL TO ORDER: at 7:31 a.m. by Dr. Nytch. 
 
PRESENTATION: Ms. Vroman introduced Ms. Holochak who presented on the Tioga County Community 
Health Assessment. Binders with the submitted report were distributed to those present. An electronic 
PowerPoint was shared with all members after the meeting.  
 
Ms. Holochak explained that the CHA process started at the beginning of 2025. Data was collected and 
analyzed on a wide range of health trends, behaviors and needs using results from the “My Health Story 
Survey”, key informant interviews with community partners and public health records. All data was 
compared to New York State, excluding New York City, and where able, indicated how the measures 
compared to the New York State Prevention Agenda. All data for the final report was collected by August 
2025.   
 
Notable Findings: 

 Areas of Concern- Chronic Disease, Mental Health and Well-Being, Substance Use, Zoonotic 
Diseases, Access to Food, and Traffic Safety. 

 Community Strengths - Maternal and Child Health, Cancer Screenings, Healthcare, Physical 
Activity, Laboratory Confirmed Infections, and Access to Mental Health Care. 

 
Next Steps: Have meeting with steering committee later this month, will be reviewing the New York State 
Prevention Agenda which lists the five domains New York State has identified for 2025-2030. The 
Community Health Improvement Plan (CHIP) will be due by end of June 2026. 
 
Members commented and made several inquiries: 

 Legislator Standinger noted that it is important to capitalize that Tioga County has open access 
for mental healthcare. 

 Dr. Nytch inquired how far the data goes. Ms. Holochak stated that the data gets submitted to 
New York State for review. They will look more closely at the Community Health Improvement 
Plan (CHIP) to see what interventions we put in place. Ms. Vroman noted that New York State 
health departments are required to complete and submit the CHA and CHIP, this is the first year it 
will be a five-year cycle. Also noted the limitations with the data that was received from New York 
State. The survey we distributed throughout the community has a fairer average than the 
averages in data supplied by New York State. 



TIOGA COUNTY BOARD OF HEALTH 
 
 

c/o Tioga County Department of Health ~ 1062 State Rt. 38 ~ PO Box 120 ~ Owego, NY 13827   Page 2 of 4 
 

o Received 937 surveys from a population of eighteen and older. Received back about 800 
valid surveys.  

o Additional discussion of the concern of access to food given the aging population of 
Tioga County. 

 Other inquiries were made pertaining to cancer screenings and vaccinations. 
 

Members thanked Ms. Holochak for presenting the information on the CHA. 
Ms. Holochak departed at 8:01 a.m. 

 
OLD BUSINESS: 

 Dr. Nytch requested follow-up on animal bite investigation and lead management lacking 
documentation that was noted at November’s meeting. Ms. Vroman stated that this notation was 
part of the Quality Record Audit Summary for the third quarter that Ms. Medina presented on. The 
lacking documentation was due to the Record Aduit tools needing updating, which has since 
been done. She also noted that the Quality Improvement Project for Animal Bite Investigations 
has been wrapped up and follow up on lead residences has improved. 

o Legislator Standinger inquired if lead remediation is enforceable. Ms. Vroman explained 
the lead program process. Homeowners/ Landlords are given a Notice and Demand and 
must submit a plan per the Notice and Demand within ten business days of receiving. 
Some are given paint vouchers through Home Central, or they can use a certified 
contractor to complete the remediation. Environmental Health must “clear” the property to 
be able to be removed from our list. For children that are monitored for elevated blood 
lead levels, they stay on under care coordination until the child receives two blood test 
results in good measure. Members, Ms. Vroman and County Attorney DeWind 
additionally discussed process for landlord refusal. County Attorney DeWind noted that 
Tioga County does have a liability as a municipality if progress isn’t seen in lead 
properties needing remediation. 

 Enforcements: Inquiry was made about permitting school districts and repeat violations at Tioga 
Downs Ms. Vroman explained specifics on violations. 

 Meeting Minutes (November 2025): Motion to approve prior minutes made by Dr. Kapur-Pado, 
seconded by Mr. Simmons; all were in favor, none opposed, motion approved. 

 
NEW BUSINESS:  

 Annual Review of Board of Health By-Laws: Ms. Vroman stated that at minimum By-Laws have to 
be reviewed annually, as stated in the By-Laws. Members were requested to review the current 
By-Laws prior to the meeting and bring any comments/edits for discussion. Members felt that By-
Laws did not need any edits. Motion to approve Board of health By-Laws as written with no 
further edits made by Mr. Simmons; seconded by Dr. Raftis; all were in favor, none opposed, 
motion approved. 
 

DIRECTOR’S REPORT: Ms. Vroman distributed and shared her Director’s Report. 
 
Public Health Information: 

 Federal funding update- Still no impacts to local public health at this time. Last week we were told 
one of our larger grants was cut (SAMSA), but then next day they redacted that statement. The 
Centers for Medicare and Medicaid announced that all 50 states are to receive funding for rural 
health through the Rural Health Transformation Grant. $212 million being allocated to New York 
State, which could trickle down to us. 

 HHS/CDC has updated childhood immunization recommendations. New York State Department 
of Health rejects all recent changes to the vaccination schedule, so there will be no changes in 
New York State. Have some worry about increase in medical exemptions. 

 Respiratory illnesses- While we have seen the most numbers recorded in New York State, Tioga 
County’s cases have dropped this past week. Seeing most numbers recorded with kids under 
nineteen years old at 51%. 



TIOGA COUNTY BOARD OF HEALTH 
 
 

c/o Tioga County Department of Health ~ 1062 State Rt. 38 ~ PO Box 120 ~ Owego, NY 13827   Page 3 of 4 
 

o We have been advocating for flu vaccinations through campaigns. 
 

Staffing Updates: 
 Weights and Measures Director position is currently vacant and after looking at other counties 

and our current needs, we feel it needs to be a full-time position. The resolution will be taken to 
the Health and Human Services Committee in February.  

o For now Mr. Scherrer has been working with New York State Agriculture and Markets for 
training purposes. Ms. Vroman noted some specifications on the position. 

 County changes: 
o Tracy Monell is now Chair of the Legislature and Legislator Standinger is Deputy Chair. 
o Two new legislators have been elected-Joellen Rose and David Cantella. 
o DSS Commissioner Shawn Yetter retired at the end of the year, Liz Myers is the new 

DSS Commissioner. 
o Lori Morgan, Director of Community Services, has also announced her retirement, and it 

is expected that Sarah Begeal will be interim Director. Discussed process for appointing 
new Director. 

  
Accomplished Activities: 

 Completed all milestones in our agency strategic plan (this plan was initiated in 2024). 
 Completed and submitted the Community Health Assessment. 
 Conducted Stay interviews with all team members in November. Will share data next month. 
 NYSDOH has notified us that the Owego Convenience’s tobacco license has been suspended for 

twelve months. 
o County Attorney DeWind noted that this also triggers a loss of lottery license. 

 Had document review (informal audit) by NYSOMIG for Preschool Special Education Program, 
which was done virtually. There were no findings. 

 Now using NexStar Media advertising to push commercials out to a variety of streaming platforms 
specifically targeting Tioga County residents. We will be having a commercial played during the 
Superbowl- we will send to you for your review. 

o Discussed county process for purchasing advertising space. 
 In December, Ms. Vroman attended NYSACHO annual meeting in Albany, she received a tour of 

the State Capital Building and then has meet-and-greets with state partners. 
 

In Progress Activities: 
 Continue to work with New Yorks State Agriculture and Markets to help us in our Weights and 

Measures Program as we work to assess needs and identify gaps/priorities. 
 As of Monday, we received notice of award for the School Based Dental Program for $350,000. 

Will be developing a workplan for implementation. 
 Project Public Health Ready is underway (for Emergency Preparedness). Our Public Health 

Emergency Preparedness Coordinator is organizing and leading groups to complete assigned 
tasks.  

o Legislator Standinger noted that Ms. Squair is very energetic and a great addition to the 
department.  

o Additionally noted the Employee of the Fourth Quarter-Janice Heyman, Dental Assistant. 
 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  
Dr. Nytch requested a motion be made to appreciate Ms. Vroman’s leadership and would like to reflect all 
the good work that she and the Public Health Team have done. Motion made by Mr. Simmons; Legislator 
Standinger seconded; all in favor, none opposed, motion approved.  
 
Additional conversation regarding public transportation in Tioga County. 
 
Motion to adjourn meeting made by Mr. Simmons, seconded by Dr. Kapur-Pado, all in favor, none 
opposed, motion approved. Adjournment of meeting called 8:47 a.m.  



TIOGA COUNTY BOARD OF HEALTH 
 
 

c/o Tioga County Department of Health ~ 1062 State Rt. 38 ~ PO Box 120 ~ Owego, NY 13827   Page 4 of 4 
 

 
 
Minutes respectfully submitted by Abigail Reigelman  
 
__________________________________  ____________________________________ 
     Thomas Nytch, DVM, President             Abigail Reigelman; Secretary 

 
 

Minutes approved February 19, 2026 



 
 

February 2026 Enforcements 
 

 

Business Type of Violation Fine Paid/Date Repeat Violation(s) 
within  

12 Month Period 
Julie Lovelass 
Owego Kitchen 
13 Lake St. 
Owego, NY  

Food 
$450.00 

1/12/2026 
No 

General Manager 
Sweeney’s Market 
6518 State Route 434 
Apalachin, NY 

ATUPA 
$550.00 

1/16/2026 
Yes 

John Politis 
Blue Dolphin Restaurant 
7670 State Route 434 
Apalachin, NY  

Food 
$272.11 

1/20/2026 
Yes 

Christopher Audette 
Waterman Conservation Center 
403 Hilton Rd. 
Apalachin, NY 

Water 
$100.00 
2/6/2026 

No 



Tioga County Public Health  
Health & Human Services Building   |   1062 State Route 38, Owego, NY 13827 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Phone: 607-687-8600   |   Fax: 607-223-7030   |   ph.tiogacountyny.gov 

Heather Vroman, MPH, MSEd., Public Health Director  
 

Monthly Report January 2026  Page 1 of 10 
 

 AGENCY REPORT 
December 25, 2025- January 21, 2026 

 
Highlights 

 We submitted the 2025-2030 Tioga County Community Health Assessment to New York State! The 
CHA  was shared with our partners, posted on social media and to our website, and a press release 
was sent out to community partners. Public health Project Coordinator presented CHA findings to the 
Board of Health in January. 

 We have been awarded $19,000 for our work on the Article 6 Year 13 Performance Incentive project. 
This included updating the cooling center directory and sharing information on our website about 
preparing for extreme weather. 

 School Based Dental Program has been awarded funding in the amount of $58,000 annually over the 
next five years! 

 We held our first rabies clinic of the year at the Candor Fire Station. We implemented more of a POD 
approach with use of Incident Command System (ICS) roles. The clinic was a success, vaccinating 
117 pets! 

 Janice Heyman was nominated Team Member of the 4th quarter for 2025! 

Health Education 
 Health Educators attended the Family Resource Playgroup story times at Berkshire Library, Candor 

Library and Spencer Inspire S-VE Fitness and Community Center promoting protecting yourself from 
the flu along with handwashing and vaccines through children’s books, sensory handwashing activity 
and coloring.  

 Have initiated Lactation Education program at Public Health, offering breastfeeding support. We have 
started  informing new mothers of this program when making new Welcome Baby calls. 

 Health Education team started training in the new Metopio platform for data analytics. This platform 
will allow Public Health to generate data dashboards and reports to track health interventions. 

 Public Health Project Coordinator conducted several media interviews including interviews with 
WBNG and WSKG regarding flu and respiratory illness and the Morning Times and WHCU to discuss 
the CHA. 

 Messaging was done through the holiday season to discourage Drinking and Driving. Pens were 
delivered to Tioga County DMV with messaging around sober driving. 

 Chair of Suicide Prevention Coalition developed Strategic Plan to guide work and shared with 
members. 

 
 



Monthly Report January 2026  Page 2 of 10 

 
Environmental Health 

 Director of Environmental Health has been training in Weights and Measures Program. NYS 
Agriculture and Markets representative has been providing regular training. 

 Public Health Sanitarian partnered with a DSS staff member to do a home visit to address a nuisance 
complaint. 

 
Patient Services (EI, Dental, Clinic) 

 The CDC recently published changes to the childhood vaccine schedule. However, New York State 
still maintains current recommendations and will not be implementing any changes. We are 
communicating this information with Tioga County school districts. 

 We vaccinated several youths for COVID! 

 Early Intervention is starting to see an increase in referrals. While the provider shortage continues, we 
are able to be supportive to parents and instrumental at ensuring that we take actions to get children 
the services they need. 

Administration 
 Deputy Director and Public Health project Coordinator met with Newark Valley School District staff and 

Creating Health Schools and Communities grant personnel to review current wellness initiatives and 
potential projects. 

Workforce Development 
 EH Staff completed a training on advanced food prepackaging and the correct cooling and heating 

procedures.  

 PHEP Coordinator attended the Family Assistance Center Training in Geneseo, hosted by Department 
of Homeland Security. 

 Public Health Nurse has begun cross-training in the Early Intervention program; this will be a great 
back-up if this program were to get busier and we needed someone trained to fill in. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Monthly Report January 2026  Page 3 of 10 

Ongoing Support/Partnerships 
- Advocacy, Support & Prevention (ASAP) 

Coalition   

- Child Fatality Review Team 

- Family Enrichment Network (Head Start) 

- Lourdes PACT Advisory Board 

- Mothers and Babies Perinatal Network 

- New York State Association of County Health 
Officials (NYSACHO) 

- New York State Association for Rural Health 
(NYSARH) 

- New York State Association of Counties 
(NYSAC) 

- Racker Center 

- Rural Health Network 

- S2AY Pivotal Public Health Partnership Early 
Childhood Committee  

- Team Tioga  

- Tioga County Board of Health  

- Tioga County Commissioner’s Advisory 
Council 

- Tioga County Community Organizations Active 
in Disaster (COAD) 

- Tioga County Council of Governments  

- Tioga County Local Emergency Planning 
Committee (LEPC)  

- Tioga County Mental Health Sub-Committee 

- Tioga Opportunities, Inc. 

- Tioga County Suicide Prevention Coalition 
- Tioga County Threat Assessment Management 

Team  
- Tioga County Water Quality Committee 
- Tioga County Youth Bureau

 
 
 
Attachments: 
 

1. Financial Snapshot, YTD thru November 2025. 
2. Advertisements: “Prepare Your Pets for Disasters,” Winter Weather,” Tioga County Courier, 

12/31/2025. 
3. Editorial: “Respiratory Illness on the Rise: How to Protect Yourself this Season,” Tioga County Courier, 

12/31/2025. 
4. Flyer: “What the Health!?,” January 2026. 
5. Bulletin Boards: “New Years Resolutions,” “The Year of Health,” HHS Building, Owego, NY, January 

2026. 
6. Bulletin Board: “Stay Safe on the Road this Winter,” 56 Main Street, Owego, NY, January 2026. 
7. Data Spreadsheet December 25, 2025-January 21, 2026. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Monthly Report January 2026  Page 4 of 10 

Financial Snapshot 

Year-to-date through November 2025*1,2,3 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
    

  
 
 

Allocation of Expenses  
Year-to-date through November 2025 

 

  
 

*Notes:    
 1. These figures represent the most recent ‘closed out’ month by the Treasurer. 
 2. Most of January & February revenue are adjusted back to prior year as payments during this time are for services performed in the prior year.  

State Aid reimbursement is reported a couple months after each quarter ends. 
 3. Additional funds not including in the reported numbers above are JUUL Settlement Funds & ASAP Coalition grants. These are excluded as they 

are outside of our County approved budgets and would skew the figures to not being accurate reflections of financial status. 
  
 
 
 
 

5%

47%48%

Infrastructure

Program

Compensation

 Budget 
2025 

 

Actual  
YTD 2025 

Percentage of 
2025 Budget 

REVENUES    
 

Fees 
  

    

 1,015,904 
   

    868,865 
 

  86 % 
 

State/Federal 
  

 

3,763,299 
 

2,345,245 
 

  62 % 
 

Local 
  

 

3,330,877 
   

   1,761,837 
 

  53 % 

TOTAL 8,110,080 4,975,947   61 % 

    

EXPENSES    
 

Compensation 
  

 

2,862,548 
 

2,369,398 
 

83 % 
 

Program Expense 
  

 

4,795,132 
 

2,343,055 
 

           49 % 
 

Core Infrastructure 
  

  

   452,400 
 

   263,494 
 

58 % 

TOTAL 8,110,080 4,975,947 61 % 



Monthly Report January 2026  Page 5 of 10 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ad: “Prepare Your Pets for Disasters,” Tioga County Courier, 12/31/2025 



Monthly Report January 2026  Page 6 of 10 

 

 

 

 

 

Ad: “Winter Weather,” Tioga 
County Courier, 12/31/2025 

Editorial: “Respiratory Illness on the Rise: How to Protect Yourself this Season,” Tioga County Courier, 12/31/2025 



Monthly Report January 2026  Page 7 of 10 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Flyer: “What the Health!?,” January 2026. 
 

      



Monthly Report January 2026  Page 8 of 10 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bulletin Boards: Health & Human Services 
Building, Owego, NY, January 2026. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bulletin Board: 56 Main Street, Owego, NY, 
January 2026. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 



Monthly Report January 2026  Page 9 of 10 

DATA SPREADSHEET 
December 25, 2025-January 21, 2026 

 

PUBLIC HEALTH ACTIVITIES Y-E 2024 Y-E 2025 Dec-25 Jan-26 Y-T-D 
Community Health      
Communicable Disease   3082 2643 409 262 262 
  - General Infectious Diseases 
(Camplyobacterious, Salmonellosis, etc.) 330 363 15 22 22 
  - Zoonotic Diseases (Anaplasmosis, Lyme, 
etc.)                                           352 474 30 9 9 
  - Vaccine-Preventable Diseases (COVID-
19, Influenza, etc.) 2281 1710 359 224 224 

Child Passenger Safety Seats Inspected 49 39 3 1 1 

  - Child Seats FAILED Inspection 40 29 3 1 1 

CredibleMind Users N/A 2857 322 204 204 

Immunizations: Total children and adults 87 54 1 4 4 
Newly Identified Children with Elevated 
Blood Lead Levels 10 13 0 0 0 
Environmental Health Assessments due to 
Child with EBLL 8 9 0 0 0 

Current Children with EBLL Caseload N/A N/A 22 19 N/A 

Welcome Baby Packets Mailed 298 433 34 31 31 

People Trained w/ Narcan 96 72 0 0 0 

Dental      
New Clients 325 383 43 35 35 

Dental Screenings 1227 1359 111 100 100 

  - Clients with Low Decay Risk 461 287 17 23 23 

  -Clients with Moderate Decay Risk 274 445 38 52 52 

  - Clients with High Decay Risk 493 619 63 27 27 

Extractions 170 205 19 12 12 

Children Services      
Early Intervention Referrals 195 138 7 14 14 
Early Intervention CURRENT Caseload      
*Monthly total                                                N/A N/A 32 33 N/A 

EI children waiting for service(s) N/A N/A 7 7 N/A 

Active EI Providers N/A N/A 14 14 N/A 

Preschool      
Children in a tuition-based program N/A N/A 24 25 N/A 
    -Children receiving transportation 
services under the Serafini contract N/A N/A 16 15 N/A 
    -Children receiving transportation from  
their parents N/A N/A 8 10 N/A 

Child Find      
Current Children being served  N/A N/A 20 18 N/A 



Monthly Report January 2026  Page 10 of 10 

 Y-E 2024 Y-E 2025 Dec-25 Jan-26 Y-T-D 

Environmental Health      
Animal bite investigations 238 237 14 12 12 

  - Individuals requiring Rabies Series (N) 51 39 3 1 1 

Rabies Clinics 9 8 1 1 1 

- Number of Animals Vaccinated 1377 1140 60 117 117 

Food Establishment Inspections 228 240 15 18 18 

Temporary Food Inspections 62 64 4 0 0 

Clean Indoor Air Act Complaints (Smoking) 1 5 0 0 0 

Mobile Home Park Inspections 35 35 1 3 3 

Swimming Pool Inspections 11 20 4 0 0 

Tanning Inspections 2 2 0 0 0 

Children's Camp Inspections 13 14 0 0 0 

Agriculture Fairground Inspections 3 2 0 0 0 

ATUPA Checks (Underage Tobacco Sales) 116 157 16 2 2 

  - ATUPA Violations 2 6 1 0 0 

Nuisance Complaints 25 51 3 2 2 

Enforcement Actions 45 64 5 5 5 

Weights & Measures      
Inspection Sites  201 N/A 2 0 0 

   -Devices Inspected 448 N/A 23 0 0 

Training Hrs./Equipment Maintenance 43 N/A 5 15 15 
Fiscal-Electronic Payments & 
Applications      
Total Number of Electronic Payments (All 
Programs) N/A 133 6 3 0 
Total Dollar Amount of Electronic 
Payments Received (All Programs) N/A $25,876  $1,664 $235  $235  
Number of Electronic Applications 
Received N/A 47 1 1 1 

 


